FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/17/2019 9:12 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 97213-3

Court of Appeals No. 50979-2-II

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CATHERINE S. SHUBECK Respondent

v.

JOHN R. SHUBECK and SHELLY A. WILLIAMS Appellants

PETITION FOR REVIEW

John R. Shubeck Shelly A. Williams Appellants, Pro Se 1350 Pilchuck Heights Fox Island, WA 98333 Tel: 253-303-0135

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

John Shubeck and Shelly Williams, Appellants below, ask this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals' decision terminating review designated in Part III of this petition.

II. INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY

John Shubeck ("John") and Catherine Shubeck ("Cathy") lived in New Jersey, married in 1982, separated in 2001 and divorced in 2003 at which time alimony was ordered for Cathy. John began paying alimony in 2001 and consistently paid until 2015 when he retired from EMC after 25 years of service. Cathy obtained a judgment against John for unpaid alimony on March 7, 2016 and within two (2) months, began collecting her judgment through John's new employer. John has been current ever since. Despite these facts, Cathy filed a lawsuit for fraudulent transfer in April 2016. She was not hindered or delayed in her collecting her judgment.

In October 2004 (also in New Jersey), John met Shelly Williams ("Shelly") and they began dating. In 2005, John terminated his rental agreement for his apartment and moved into Shelly's home. While John was severely in debt at the time, he and Shelly agreed that when he was able, he would pay his share of the expenses. He was not able to pay her for over a year. John eventually was able to get out of debt and repaid Shelly for these and other expenses in September 2010, in the amount of \$80,000.

Also during 2005, Cathy filed a lawsuit in New Jersey after driving by Shelly's home, seeking to double her child support and alimony because she observed that Shelly was successful and appeared to have wealth. Cathy dubbed Shelly, "the million dollar tramp," and proceeded to try to take Shelly's assets. The New Jersey court denied Cathy's motion.

Prior to getting married, John and Shelly took Cathy's lawsuit to a New Jersey attorney and asked whether Cathy could get access to Shelly's assets if they married. The attorney advised that John and Shelly must execute a Prenuptial Agreement in order for Shelly to protect her estate from Cathy. John and Shelly each met with separate attorneys and drew up a Prenuptial Agreement. While the impetus was Cathy's efforts to take what Shelly owned independently, it was important to identify the separate property status of Shelly's assets because she was coming into the marriage with significant assets and John had virtually no assets. This imbalance made a Prenuptial Agreement a prudent contract to execute. Under the advice of counsel, John and Shelly executed the agreement on August 1, 2009, three (3) months prior to their wedding.

John and Shelly married on November 20, 2009. They continued to live and work in New Jersey until Shelly's parents took ill and she needed to move back to Washington State on September 24, 2010.

Shelly sold her New Jersey home in August 2010 and contracted to buy her new home at 809 6th Lane, Fox Island in August 2010. Shelly executed an earnest money check on September 3, 2010 from her separate New Jersey bank account. Using only her separate funds from her New Jersey bank accounts, Shelly made the down payment on the home by way of a wire transfer from her separate bank account. Once she opened a new bank account in Washington (also separate), Shelly signed up for autopay with Wells Fargo for all future mortgage payments. In March 2011, Shelly purchased a boat and trailer (Cathy is not claiming that the boat was fraudulently transferred). In April 2011, Shelly bought a pickup truck to pull the boat. Each of these purchases are traceable to Shelly's separate bank accounts, all from funds Shelly brought to Washington from New Jersey. Shelly initially allowed John's name to gratuitously go on title because she believed John's financial obligations to Cathy terminated once their youngest son graduated from high school and so she was not particularly concerned about his name being on title. Their Prenuptial Agreement designated these assets as Shelly's separate property so she was not overly concerned. When alimony requirements were reinstated, Shelly corrected the titles on October 11, 2012 to align with her separate ownership of each asset because of Cathy's previous attempts to access Shelly's assets.

These are the assets for which Shelly corrected titles on October 11, 2010. There is one additional asset that Shelly corrected the title on and that is the 2003 Lexus ES300. This was Shelly's company car while working for Lincoln Educational Services. Her employer gave Shelly this car when she resigned her position as an Executive in Human Resources in 2008 and is stipulated in her separation agreement. In November 2008, John needed a reliable vehicle so Shelly sold him 50% interest in her car for

\$10,000, half the value of the car. Once John's equity in the car was consumed, John signed the title back over to Shelly as agreed upon.

It is these correction of titles in 2012, four years before Cathy even had a judgment against John, which she sued for fraudulent transfer. There is no connection between Shelly correcting titles to property she bought with her own separate funds in 2012 and John having a judgment for unpaid alimony in 2016, for which he immediately began paying by way of a garnishment through his employer.

Cathy included the boat and other property (Pilchuck Heights) Shelly purchased in her lawsuit despite the fact that she states that there was no fraudulent transfer of the boat and that John was never on title to the Pilchuck Heights property. Since John was not on title to either asset, there cannot be an allegation of a fraudulent transfer since nothing was transferred. Shelly purchased each of these assets independently with funds from her separate bank accounts. The Court of Appeals takes note of the fact that Shelly alone purchased the Pilchuck Heights property on Page 3, Fact I., "In February 2014 Shelly purchased property at Pilchuck Heights Drive, Fox Island) and again on Page 7, Finding of Fact 24, "Mr. Shubeck was never on the purchase documents," and on Page 20, Paragraph One, where it acknowledges, "Shelly then purchased a vacant lot at Pilchuck Heights..." These facts verify that Pilchuck Heights is separate property as the court validates that Shelly alone purchased the property. The closing documents clearly state that John signed the quit claim deed as required by

the title company in order for Shelly to acquire Pilchuck Heights as her separate property because Washington is a community property state. John had no interest in the property. Despite these facts, lower courts found that Pilchuck Heights and the boat were fraudulent transfers.

The lower courts do not acknowledge these facts at all. Further, the lower courts do not acknowledge the 3,000 pages of bank records, subpoenaed by Cathy and entered into evidence at trial, of John and Shelly's bank accounts from 2005 through 2016 that demonstrate that John and Shelly have <u>seventeen separate bank accounts</u> and <u>no joint bank accounts</u>. These are the most important documents in this case. They show that John and Shelly <u>never</u> commingled funds by having a joint bank account. This demonstrates that Shelly <u>intended</u> to maintain her separate property. This demonstrates that since Shelly maintained all her cash in separate accounts that when she purchased an asset, that asset would retain the separate property designation as Washington statute provides. This also demonstrates that not one of the assets named in the fraudulent transfer lawsuit were a joint purchase, contrary to the findings of the lower courts.

Both courts fail to mention or consider bank records, purchase and sale agreements, cashier's checks, and wire transfer documents that prove that Shelly bought each of the assets named in the lawsuit. Neither court acknowledge that these documents exist despite the fact that they were entered into evidence at trial and are part of the record. The fact that these critical documents go unmentioned and instead the Court of Appeals states that the record is inadequate is shocking.

Further, both courts ignore the assets Shelly brought from New Jersey to Washington on September 24, 2010. They ignore the citations to bank statements demonstrating the significant amount of cash that Shelly had on hand when she moved to Washington. They ignore that she had enough to buy the home, boat, trailer and truck with ample funds left over. They ignore that the purchases of these assets is noted on each of the bank statements from Shelly's separate bank accounts. Neither court made mention of any of these indisputable facts.

John and Shelly had to ask themselves why both courts were so intent on finding them guilty of a fraudulent transfer. The courts' obvious intent was to weave a story of corruption around John so convincingly that finding him guilty of a fraudulent transfer was inevitable. The courts eliminated all the pertinent evidence around banking records and purchases, and instead wrote page after page of real or perceived bad acts committed by John, most of which is not even relevant to this lawsuit. The lawsuit should be focused on whether or not Shelly owned the assets for which she corrected titles in 2012. Instead, the courts focused on laying out a case against John for being a bad actor, with each court repeating comments from previous courts. Whether or not John committed the acts as described, has no bearing on whether Shelly purchased the assets named in the lawsuit. That is the only issue before this Court. The lower courts also focused on the fact that John gave Shelly money and that because she put money from him in her separate bank account, somehow that transmuted her separate bank account (and consequently assets she purchased from these accounts) into community property. Not one statute or precedent has been provided that supports that this is an appropriate conclusion of law.

Courts are supposed to provide blind justice. However, the lower courts were not blind to the fact that John and Shelly appeared Pro Se, something the trial court railed against. A retired Washington judge told John and Shelly that they were idiots for appearing Pro Se because no judge would rule against a represented litigant. He further added that no appellate panel would find for Pro Se litigants against a trial judge. The lower courts were not blind to whatever real or perceived bad acts John may have committed in the past that are not material to whether Shelly owned the assets – they focused on it extensively in their ruling and opinions and ignored addressing Shelly's purchase of the assets. Instead, the courts in this case were blind to the truth and blind to the facts. In reviewing just one of the comments made in the Court of Appeals opinion, on Page 3, Paragraph 3, it states, "In February 2014, Shelly purchased property at Pilchuck Heights Drive, Fox Island (Pilchuck property). Shortly thereafter, John executed a quit claim deed conveying his community property interest in the Pilchuck Property to Shelly," the intent to skew facts is apparent. The Court of Appeals leads one to believe that John had a community property

ownership and that he gave Shelly all his interest for no consideration. The truth of the matter is that Ticor Tile required John to come into their offices and sign a quit claim deed *prior to closing* on Shelly's purchase because she was acquiring it as her separate property, which is noted on the purchase and sale agreements. While the Court of Appeals altered the facts in what might appear to be in an insignificant way, it is quite significant that they attempt to make John look like he transferred his interests for no consideration. Judge Maxa states very clearly in the November 27, 2018 hearing that the quit claim deed was only a requirement of the bank, not indicative of some nefarious act.¹ However, that fact was oddly absent in the opinion of the Appellate Court. And lastly, the courts were blind to the fact that the trial court judge was from the same law firm representing Cathy, which could be a conflict of interest.

The bias against John is apparent on every page of the lower courts' rulings. Once one judge assigns a negative character against a litigant, future judges grab those comments, restate them in future findings, and repeat the phrases over and over, determining that each court will make John pay for whatever grievance a previous court had against the him. The bias is so severe that the lower courts ignore the rule of law and instead apply their justice to John. In that process, since Shelly was the only party with cash, she has been harmed immeasurably by having to pay \$156,000 to

¹ Wash. Court of Appeals oral argument, Shubeck v. Shubeck & Williams, No. 50979-2-II (Nov. 27, 2018), at 21 min., 20 sec. to 23 min., 13 sec., Id. at 24 min., 13 sec. to 25 min., 08 sec.

Cathy. How is it justice for Shelly to bear the burden of paying alimony (which was being collected via wage garnishment) and litigation costs between John and Cathy?

Strip away the bias and just look to the facts and there would be a very stark change in the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. Shelly had separate bank accounts and has always had only separate bank accounts. Shelly brought significant assets to Washington in 2010. Shelly used those funds to purchase a house, a boat, a trailer and a truck. Shelly, by statute in Washington State, is the separate owner of each of these assets. Yet there is no mention of any of these facts in the lower courts' rulings.

If having only separate bank accounts, a Prenuptial Agreement and a Separate Property Agreement does not protect Shelly's right to maintain her assets as separate property, what else can a resident of Washington State do to protect the separate property characterization of their assets? The ruling in this case has relevance to all married couples in the State of Washington. How is it that the Washington courts can interfere with Shelly's right to own assets as her separate property, transmuting her estate for which she worked her entire career to accumulate, only to have the courts strip her separate property from her ownership, confiscate it by way of a judgment and give it to John's former wife?

At a time in our country where the rule of law is front and center as a result of what's happening with the highest ranking legal position in America, it does create pause when we witness the rule of law not being followed in the local courts. When the local courts rule in opposition to statutes and over 100 years of case law, it is time to sit up and take notice. Martin Luther King stated, "Injustice anywhere is a threat to justice everywhere."

III. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioners, John Shubeck and Shelly Williams, seek review of the Court of Appeals' decision entered on March 19, 2019, and denial of Motion for Reconsideration dated April 18, 2019, affirming the trial court's Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law that they committed fraudulent transfer.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

The Procedural History in John Shubeck and Shelly Williams

Appellants' Brief is incorporated by reference.

B. STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Statement of Facts in John Shubeck and Shelly Williams

Appellants' Brief is incorporated by reference.

V. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW/ ARGUMENTS

A. SEPARATE PROPERTY VS. COMMUNITY PROPERTY RCW 26.16.010 states:

Separate property of spouse.

- 1. Acquired before marriage;
- 2. Acquired during marriage by gift or inheritance; or
- 3. Acquired during marriage with the traceable proceeds of separate property.

The lower courts do not acknowledge Shelly's separate bank accounts that were evidence submitted at trial by Cathy.² These bank accounts identify Shelly's significant liquid assets when she moved to Washington State, all of which were held in separate bank accounts as follows: (*note the exhibit number and the page number beside each bank account admitted at trial*)

			EXHIBIT #	PAGE
ACCOUNT #	ACCOUNT NAME	AMOUNT		#
	Wachovia Crown		15	2194
3720	Checking	\$80,972.23		
	Wachovia High		15	2194
	Performance Money			
5890	Market	\$185,880.33		
	Wachovia Crown		15	2194
8752	Classic	\$1,248.59		
	Wachovia High		15	2190
	Performance Money		*REDACTED	
	Market – 2	\$87,779.37		
	Wachovia High		15	2194
	Performance Money			
8765	Market – 3	\$9,024.06		
Account No.	Certificate of Deposit			
0717	Wachovia CD 2-year	\$11,983.18	15	2178
			15	2190
	Wachovia CD 3-year	\$33,100.04	*REDACTED	
Account No.	Money Market			
2116990538	Ally Bank	\$95,094.00	41	2728
	Vanguard Stocks		10	1197
	Vanguard Bonds		9	927
	Vanguard Money		9	1155
Account No.	Market Fund			
09945295049	Vanguard IRA	130,000.00		
TOTAL CASH		\$635,081.80		

*In an effort to obscure Shelly's considerable assets from the trial court, Davies Pearson redacted these bank account numbers and balances, stating that they were beyond the scope of the litigation. Shelly used future statements to fill in the actual amounts.

These bank records establish that Shelly held significant separate assets that

she brought to Washington from New Jersey. She opened all new separate

² EX 1-4, EX 9-15, EX 41

bank accounts in Washington State after moving here. She had no joint bank accounts with John. These cash accounts are not all inclusive of the funds Shelly owned but are the only bank accounts subpoenaed by Cathy for trial. This list also does not account for all Shelly's real and personal property that she brought to this state.

An asset is Separate Property if:

Brought to Washington State from a foreign jurisdiction.

Brookman v. Durkee, 46 Wash. 578, 90 P. 914, 1907, decision by the

Supreme Court, demonstrates this precedent in the following opinion:

If it were the intent of the statute that property acquired in another jurisdiction and brought within the state should become community property, its legality might be seriously questioned. It would destroy vested rights. It would take from one of the spouses property over which he or she had sole and absolute dominion and ownership, and vest an interest therein in the other, and if the spouse should be the wife it would not only take away her absolute title, but would take away from her her right to control and manage the property, and make it subject to the separate debts of the husband whether or not she derived any benefit from their contracting, or had any legal or moral obligation to pay them. Therefore, without entering further into the reasons for the rule, we are clear that personal property acquired by either husband or wife in a foreign jurisdiction, which is by law of the place where acquired the separate property of one or the other of the spouses, continues to be the separate property of that spouse when brought within this state; and it being the separate property of that spouse owning and bringing it here, property in this state, whether real or personal, received in exchange for it, or purchased by it if it be money, is also the separate property of such spouse.

SHELLY'S ACQUISTION OF ASSETS NAMED IN THE LAWSUIT:

Non-Washington Resident:	
2003 Lexus ES300 (January 2008):	From Employer ³
809 6 th Lane Home:	
Earnest money (9/3/2010):	7,000.00 ⁴
Down payment (9/23/2010):	\$ 347,718.46 ⁵
Washington Resident:	
2005 Shoreland'r Boat Trailer (3/29/2011):	\$ 5,000.00 ⁶
2006 Dodge Ram Truck (4/7/2011):	<i>\$ 21,667.25⁷</i>

³ EX 119

⁴ EX 15, Pg. 2195

⁵ EX 105, EX 41, Pg. 2719

⁶ EX 123

⁷ EX 124

SHELLY'S TOTAL CASH PURCHASES: \$381,385.71

Shelly clearly had enough separate funds to purchase the assets noted in the fraudulent transfer lawsuit and was able to link each purchase to banking records that confirm she made the purchase from a separate bank account.

B. SEPARATE PROPERTY RETAINS CHARACTERIZATION

The fact that Shelly could trace her purchase of each of the assets named in the fraudulent transfer lawsuit is sufficient to prove that they are her separate property. Assets purchased retain the designation of the bank account from which it is purchased. The lower courts' rulings violate both RCW 26.16.010 and long held precedent:

Schwarz v. Schwarz, 192 Wn. App. 180, 189 (2016):

An asset is separate property if "acquired during marriage with the traceable proceeds of separate property;" ... the requirement that assets be traced required Ms. Champagne to demonstrate by clear and convincing evidence that any acquisition of "new" assets she claimed as separate was with the proceeds of separate assets.

Rustad v. Rustad, 61 Wn.2d. 176, 377 P.2d 414 (1963):

In this state, the applicable rules are: (1) The community or separate character of real property is determined by the character of funds used in its purchase.

Madsen v. Commissioner of the Internal Revenue Service, 97 Wn. 2d 792,

796, 6540 P. 2d 196 (1982):

To rebut the presumption [that all property is community property], a party asserting that property acquired during marriage is separate property must be able to trace "with some degree of particularity" the separate source of the funds used for the acquisition.

Berol v. Berol, 37 Wn.2d 380, 382, 223 P.2d 1055 (1950)

If separate assets are commingled with community assets, the entire asset is presumed to be community unless the separate funds can be traced or identified.

The separate property characterization was established on the date the assets were purchased because they were acquired with Shelly's separate funds.

C. DESIGNATION OF AN ASSET

Once the characterization of the property is established as separate,

it retains that status unless a very overt action occurs to change it. The

Supreme Court precedent was established in In re Estate of Witte, 21 Wash.2d

112, 125, 150 P.2d 595 (1944), In re Estate of Madsen, 48 Wash.2d 675, 676-77,

296 P.2d 518 (1956) and Baker v. Baker, 80 Wash.2d 736, 745, 498 P.2d 315

(1972).

Separate property will remain separate property "through all of its changes and transitions" so long as it can be traced and identified.

Additional Supreme Court decisions are consistent with the precedent set in the above cases in *Gage v. Gage*, 78 Wash. 262, 138 Pac. 886; *Volz v. Zang*, 113 Wash. 378, 194 Pac. 409:

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