FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
6/13/2019 2:21 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

Supreme Court No.: 97213-3

NO. 50979-2-II

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CATHERINE S. SHUBECK

Plaintiff/Respondent,

VS.

JOHN R. SHUBECK and SHELLY A. WILLIAMS,

Defendants/Appellants.

Appealed from Pierce County Superior Court Case No. 16-2-06813-3

RESPONDENT CATHERINE S. SHUBECK'S RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Thomas L. Dashiell, WSBA #49567 DAVIES PEARSON, P.C. 920 Fawcett Avenue Tacoma, WA 98402 253-620-1500

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

ARGUMENT

Respondent addresses each issue presented in the same order Appellants have presented the issue in their Petition for Review.

A. Separate Property vs. Community Property

Appellants have failed to demonstrate how any of the tests contained in RAP 13.4(b) have been met. Instead, Appellants have set forth factual allegations not contained in the record to further advance a theory that Ms. Williams had enough money in her own personal bank

account prior to marriage to acquire the assets subject to this lawsuit. See Petition for Review at pgs. 10-13. Importantly, the assets in question were purchased after Appellants were married in 2009, making them presumptively community property. See Petition for Review, Appx A, Court of Appeals Opinion at pgs. 4-6 and 7-8. Moreover, Mr. Shubeck's money was utilized to pay for them, as he was depositing his income into Ms. Williams' bank accounts throughout the marriage to pay for assets and pay down the debts owing on those assets. *Id.* Respondents' primary argument, one which they have adamantly maintained throughout these proceedings, is that once Mr. Shubeck deposited his income into Ms. Williams' separate bank account, it became her separate money and anything she purchased with those funds became her separate property. See Petition for Review at pg. 13. This argument is premised on form over substance. It fails to acknowledge the source of those funds. It is clear that funds used to purchase the assets came from Mr. Shubeck's income. The funds were deposited into Ms. Williams' bank account and then used to purchase assets and paying down debts. Appellants don't even deny this fact. Instead, they continue to contend that, notwithstanding this set of facts, all of the assets still belong solely to Ms. Williams. There has been no error in application of the law here by either the trial court or the Court of Appeals. Appellants have failed to cite to

case law that would conflict with the decision of the Court of Appeals, much less demonstrate that there is an issue of substantial public interest here.

B. Separate Property Retains Characterization

Again, Appellants argue that "[a]ssets purchased retain the designation of the bank account from which it is purchased." *See* Petition for Review at pg. 13. They however cite to no authority for this assertion. *Id.* Instead, they recite language from a series of Appellate and Supreme Court cases analyzing separate and community property, all of which Respondent is in agreement with. *Id.* In fact, those cases all support Respondent's position, and some of those cases are the same cases relied upon by the Court of Appeals. Just because Mr. Shubeck deposited his income into Ms. Williams' separate bank account, did not suddenly make that money Ms. Williams' separate asset. Such an application would allow parties to evade creditors and would essentially eviscerate the very purpose of the fraudulent conveyance laws. Again, Appellants have failed to demonstrate how this issue meets any of the tests required under RAP 13.4(b).

C. Designation of an Asset

This argument is a continuation of the previously misguided legal arguments. Appellants again argue that once Mr. Shubeck's money was

deposited into Ms. William's separate bank account, it became her separate property. See Petition for Review at pgs. 14-16. For this assertion, Appellants cite to the case of Baker v. Baker, 80 Wn.2d 736, 745, 498 P.2d 315 (1972), where this Court stated "[s]eparate property will remain separate property through all of its changes and transitions so long as it can be traced and identified." Respondent agrees. First, all of the assets, except the Lexus ES300¹, were purchased during the marriage, making them presumably community property. Mr. Shubeck's income is also presumably community property, or perhaps it can be characterized as his separate property. But in either case, once it is deposited into Ms. Williams' bank account, it does not lose its characterization as either community property or Mr. Shubeck's separate property and suddenly become Ms. Williams' separate property. Ms. Williams was not solely utilizing her own separate funds to purchase assets. Much of those funds belonged to the community, or at the very least, belonged to Mr. Shubeck. In either event, it demonstrates Mr. Shubeck had an interest in the property.

Appellants also cite to an unpublished opinion from the United States District Court for Western Washington as having some authority in

¹ The Lexus ES300 belonged to Ms. Williams originally, but she sold it to Mr. Shubeck prior to their marriage. *See* Petition for Review, Appx A, Court of Appeals Opinion at pg. 4. Mr. Shubeck eventually fraudulently transferred the vehicle back to Ms. Williams in October 2012. *Id.* at pg. 7.

this matter. See Petition for Review at pg. 15 (citing to LaRoche v. Billbe, et al, No. 2:2013cv01913 (W.D. Wash. 2014)). LaRoche is a lawsuit for legal malpractice filed by a plaintiff against the attorney who represented her in a divorce. *Id.* In *LaRoche*, the District Court apparently cites to the unpublished opinion of In re Marriage of Hoffman, 168 Wn. App. 1008 (2012) for the assertion that income deposited into separate bank accounts did not result in commingled funds.² Id. The case of In re Marriage of Hoffman is actually the underlying divorce case involving LaRoche and her former husband Hoffman. First, neither of these cases have precedential value. Appellants don't even cite to In re Marriage of Hoffman for their argument, instead citing to the LaRoche court's alleged interpretation of In re Marriage of Hoffman. Second, the facts and analysis contained in *In re Marriage of Hoffman* are totally irrelevant to the case at hand. That case involved two divorcing parties and the division of assets among themselves. Moreover, the law cited to in both LaRoche and In re Marriage of Hoffman actually supports Respondent's legal position. See e.g. In re Marriage of Fox, 58 Wn. App. 935, 938, 795 P.2d 1170 (1990); see also e.g. In re Marriage of Sanchez, 33 Wn. App. 215, 218, 654 P.2d 702 (1982).

² Appellants failed to reference where in the *LaRoche* decision the court states this, and counsel for Respondent was unable to locate the quote.

D. Standard of Review-Findings of Fact Errors

Appellants contend that it was error for the Court of Appeals to treat the trial court's Findings of Fact as verities. See Petition for Review at pgs. 15-16. However, it was Appellants who failed to provide to the Court of Appeals a transcript of proceedings. The Court of Appeals could not possibly have reviewed the trials court's ruling on a basis of substantial evidence if it did not have a transcript of the proceedings and testimony given. Moreover, the party seeking review has the burden of perfecting the record so that the reviewing court has before it all of the relevant evidence. Bulzomi v. Dept. of Labor & Indus., 72 Wn. App. 522, 525, 864 P.2d 996 (1994). Where the appealing party, following a trial, fails to provide a verbatim report of proceedings, the findings of fact entered by the trial court become "verities and binding upon [the appellate] Court." Morris v. Woodside, 101 Wn.2d 812, 815, 682 P.2d 905 (1984)(citing to Chace v. Kelsall, 72 Wn.2d 984, 987, 435 P.2d 643 (1967)). Thus, the Court of Appeals did not err in relying on the Findings of Fact. Finally, Appellants cite to no law to support their position. There was no error here.

E. Names on Title Not Determinative of Ownership

Appellants correctly cite to case law for the proposition that the name on title is not always indicative of ownership. See Petition for

Review at pg. 16-17. However, the reasoning utilized in those cases simply does not apply here. = Not only was Mr. Shubeck named on various titles, but he was also named on loan documents, and his money was utilized to pay for the assets. *See* Petition for Review, Appx A, Court of Appeals Opinion at pgs. 4-8. Moreover, the assets were purchased during the marriage, making them presumptively community property. *Id.*

F. Improper Definition of Commingled Funds

Appellants assert that they "never mixed separate funds with joint funds because they never had a joint bank account." See Petition for Review at pg. 18. Again, this argument is not supported by law. Maintaining a joint bank account is not a pre-requisite for commingling funds. The record demonstrates that Mr. Shubeck deposited his income into Ms. Williams' separate bank account, where she also maintained her funds, over a period of many years, and those funds were utilized to pay for assets and pay down community debts. See Petition for Review, Appx A, Court of Appeals Opinion at pg. 5. This is what the law considers commingling.

G. Prenuptial Agreement

Appellants contend that they adhered to their prenuptial agreement and that the Court of Appeals erred by agreeing with the trial court that it was unenforceable. *See* Petition for Review at pg. 18. They further

contend that the Court of Appeals should not have relied on inaccurate findings of fact. *Id.* Appellants fail to cite to any law for their proposition and fail to explain how this is an issue of substantial public interest. Moreover, the Findings of Fact, which are verities on the Court, demonstrate clearly that Appellants failed to abide by the terms of their prenuptial agreement. *See* Petition for Review, Appx A, Court of Appeals Opinion at pg. 5. Appellants have attempted throughout these proceedings to utilize the prenuptial agreement as a sword against Respondent, arguing that they abided by the terms of the agreement, and therefore, all of the assets in question belong to Ms. Williams. The record simply does not support that assertion.

H. Fraudulent Transfer Statute

Respondent started to collect on the spousal support via a wage garnishment shortly after the fraudulent transfer case was initiated. *See* Petition for Review at pg. 18. It is true that Respondent was able to successfully start garnishing Mr. Shubeck's wages shortly after the fraudulent transfer action was initiated in 2016. *See* Petition for Review, Appx A, Court of Appeals Opinion at pgs. 8-9. This was only because Ms. Shubeck obtained a judicial subpoena to the Washington State Employment Security Department and discovered that Mr. Shubeck was

actually still working. Id. Mr. Shubeck had previously wrote her a letter stating he was retiring, that he would not be enslaved to her anymore, and therefore would not be paying her anymore. *Id.* This was not true, as Mr. Shubeck continued to work for a new employer, one that he concealed from Ms. Shubeck. Id. The wage garnishment that was initiated in 2016 was costly for Ms. Shubeck, as it needed to be renewed every 60 days. *Id*. Mr. Shubeck refused to willingly pay the arrears, and instead imposed the costly burden on Ms. Shubeck to garnish his wages. *Id.* Moreover, Mr. Shubeck willingly refused to pay ongoing spousal support that became due and owing during the duration of the fraudulent transfer action. Id. Thus, while the wage garnishment chipped away at the arrears, ongoing support continued to become due and owing and went unpaid. This, coupled with the many transfers of assets, the agreed upon decree of legal separation, and the overt attempts to make Mr. Shubeck insolvent was an effort to hinder and delay Ms. Shubeck's efforts to collect the debt.

2. Appellants contend that the lower court's finding that Mr. Shubeck was insolvent, as the term is defined under former RCW 19.40.021³, was error. *See* Petition for Review at pg. 18. "A debtor who is generally not

³ The Uniform Voidable Transactions Act, RCW 19.40 et seq (formerly known as the Uniform Fraudulent Transfer Act) was amended in 2017 with an effective date of July 23, 2017. See S.B. 5085, 65th Leg., 2017 Sess. (Wa. 2017); see also RCW 19.40.900. At the time of trial, the previous rendition of the statute, the Uniform Fraudulent Transfer Act (the "UFTA"), was in effect. The judgment and conclusions of law are premised on the UFTA. This Court should analyze this case under the UFTA.

paying his or her debts as they become due is presumed to be insolvent." Former RCW 19.40.021(b); "A debtor is insolvent if the sum of the debtor's debts is greater than all of the debtor's assets, at a fair valuation." Former RCW 19.40.021(a). In the present matter, Mr. Shubeck was not paying his debts as they became due and owing. *See* Petition for Review, Appx A, Court of Appeals Opinion at pgs. 8-9. Moreover, he had transferred his interest in all his assets to Ms. Williams, making his debt to Ms. Shubeck greater than all of the debtor's assets, at a fair valuation. *Id.* at pgs. 6-8. Thus, Mr. Shubeck was insolvent. In a quite confounding assertion, Appellants argue that Mr. Shubeck was "faithfully paying the judgment." *See* Petition for Review at pg. 18. Clearly, he was not, as Ms. Shubeck had to file a fraudulent transfer lawsuit and garnish his wages. He was by no means willfully paying.

3. Appellants contend that when Mr. Shubeck was "removed from title, he was only owed whatever his share of the asset was" and "since he did not contribute toward the purchase of the asset, no consideration was due." See Petition for Review at pg. 19. Again, this argument is not supported by the record. Mr. Shubeck's income was utilized to pay for the assets and pay down community debts, including the debt owed on those assets. Mr. Shubeck had a vested interest in all the assets, yet received no consideration when he transferred the assets.

4. The lower court attributed appropriate value to the assets in question. *See* Petition for Review, Court of Appeals Opinion at pgs. 7-8.

I. Award of Attorneys' Fees

Appellants contend that the Court of Appeals "reversed the entire judgment and remanded it back to the trial court. With a full reversal of a judgment and remand to the trial court, [Appellants] should not be responsible for [Respondent's] legal fees." See Petition for Review at pg. 19. This argument, like many other made by Appellants, is simply not accurate. The Court of Appeals did not reverse the entire judgment. The Court of Appeals remanded for a minor issue, the scope of Ms. Williams' future liability, but affirmed the rest of the judgment. See Petition for Review, Appx A, Court of Appeals Opinion at pg. 24. Respondent is simply appalled at Appellants willingness to make such bold and false assertions, which have been consistent throughout these proceedings and which further support the award for attorneys' fees under a theory of intransigence and RCW 26.18.160. Moreover, Appellants appealed many more issues than just the scope of the Ms. Williams' future liability. The award for fees is supported by the law and the record.

//

//

//

ATTORNEYS FEES AND COSTS

Respondent requests an award for her reasonable attorneys' fees and costs for defending against this Petition for Review for the same reasons Respondent sought fees and costs before the Court of Appeals.

CONCLUSION

Appellants Petition for Review should be denied. Appellants have failed to demonstrate how any of the tests contained in RAP 13.4(b) have been met. As described above, their arguments are not supported by the record or the law, and some of the arguments are simply boldface falsehoods.